IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Sep 13 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Presiding Judge, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Case No. 2016-CP-20-0011

Appellate Case No. 2021-000894

Opinion No. 2021-UP-229 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 23, 2021)

Peter Rice

Respondent,

v.

John Doe

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

WALKER ALLEN GRICE AMMONS & FOY,
LLP

Sarah Rand-McDaniel (#101340)

Seth McDaniel (#100689)

P.O. Box 1068

Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465

(854) 829-0595 (phone)

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FINDING THE TRIAL JUDGE’S ORDER FOR DISMISSAL IMPROPERLY OVERRULED A PRIOR TRIAL COURT ORDER DENYING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THE GROUNDS FOR DISMISSAL WERE NOT PREVIOUSLY CONSIDERED.

- II. THE TRIAL JUDGE CORRECTLY DISMISSED THIS CASE UPON FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF FAILED TO SATISFY THE AFFIDAVIT REQUIREMENT OF S.C. CODE § 38-77-170 AS A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO FILING A JOHN DOE LAWSUIT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial judge’s dismissal of Respondent’s negligence action against John Doe for failure to contemporaneously provide a “John Doe affidavit” at or before the lawsuit was filed pursuant to section 38-77-170 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (2015).

On January 12, 2016, Respondent Peter Rice sued Petitioner John Doe and Defendant Bobby Rae Dye seeking damages for injuries he sustained as a passenger in Dye’s vehicle on April 17, 2015.¹ (App. 25-27). Specifically, Respondent asserted a claim for uninsured motorists benefits pursuant to Dye’s policy of insurance, alleging a phantom oncoming vehicle crossed the center line causing Dye to drive off the roadway and strike a tree. (App. 25). Because there was no contact between Dye’s vehicle and the alleged Doe vehicle, the action is governed by section 38-77-170 entitled, “Conditions to sue or recover under uninsured motorist provision when owner or operator of motor vehicle causing injury or damage is unknown.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 (2015). The statute (also known as the “John Doe statute”), reads as follows:

If the owner or operator of any motor vehicle which causes bodily injury or property damage to the insured is unknown, *there is no right of action or recovery* under the uninsured motorist provision,

¹ Defendant Bobby Rae Dye settled with Respondent and was dismissed from the case with prejudice in 2017.

unless:

...

(2) the injury or damage was caused by physical contact with the unknown vehicle, *or the accident must have been witnessed by someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle; provided however, the witness must sign an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident contained in the affidavit;*

(3) the insured was not negligent in failing to determine the identity of the other vehicle and the driver of the other vehicle at the time of the accident.

The following statement must be prominently displayed on the face of the affidavit provided in item (2) above: A FALSE STATEMENT CONCERNING THE FACTS CONTAINED IN THIS AFFIDAVIT MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL PENALTIES AS PROVIDED BY LAW.

Id. (emphasis added). Respondent did not execute, deliver, or file an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident prior to filing and serving his Summons and Complaint. (App. 34).

Doe served an answer on November 16, 2016, which was filed by the Fairfield County Clerk of Court on November 21, 2016. (App. 28-33). Doe's Answer reserved as a first defense a motion to dismiss for failure to comply with section 38-77-170. (App. 29). The next day, Respondent filed his first John Doe affidavit which was executed on November 18, 2016 – ten months after suit had been filed. (App. 34-35). The affidavit did not contain information about efforts to determine John Doe's identity and it failed to include the required "false statement" attestation. *Id.* On January 4, 2017, John Doe withdrew the motion to dismiss from the motions roster without comment as to its resolution. (App. 97). The reasons for the motion's withdrawal from the motion roster at that time are unknown.

On October 19, 2017, Doe moved for summary judgment and filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of Unnamed Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment citing three grounds. (App.

41-42; 101-104). Doe argued 1) that Respondent did not have a cause of action at the time of filing his Complaint because he failed to provide a John Doe affidavit, as required by section 38-77-170(2), until ten months after suit was filed; 2) Respondent's November 2016 affidavit was insufficient because it failed to include the required false statement attestation required by the statute; and 3) Respondent's subsequently filed affidavit contradicted his own deposition testimony and was therefore insufficient. (App. 101-104). On February 5, 2018, Respondent filed a second affidavit, executed September 26, 2017, containing identical information as the November 2016 affidavit, with the addition of two paragraphs and the required attestation. (App. 38-39). A hearing was held before The Honorable Judge Roger Henderson on March 14, 2018.²

Judge Henderson denied Doe's motion for summary judgment and ruled that Respondent's second affidavit, executed September 26, 2017 and filed February 5, 2018, satisfied the language and content requirements set forth by section 38-77-170(2). (App. 4-9). Judge Henderson further ruled that a genuine question of material fact existed as to any contradictory testimony provided by Respondent in his two depositions and the second affidavit. (App. 8). The Order denying summary judgment, prepared by Respondent's counsel, was filed on April 13, 2018. *Id.*

The Honorable Daniel Hall called the case for trial on June 20, 2018. (App. 52). During the Rule 16(a), SCRPC, pre-trial hearing, Doe sought a determination on the motion to dismiss reserved in her Answer. (App. 57, ll. 15-18). Respondent argued, in part, that Judge Henderson's order denying summary judgment precluded Judge Hall from hearing Doe's motion to dismiss. (App. 57, l. 22 – 58, l. 3).

After hearing arguments from counsel and reviewing the Order Denying Summary Judgment, Judge Hall concluded Judge Henderson's order solely addressed whether the affidavit's

² A transcript of this hearing was not included in the Record on Appeal.

content was sufficient in the context of section 38-77-170(2). (App. 68, l. 22 – 69, l. 23; App. 90, ll. 10-22). Judge Hall agreed that Judge Henderson had not examined or ruled upon whether Respondent had submitted an affidavit meeting the *timing* requirement of section 38-77-170. *Id.* Judge Hall found that, despite Judge Henderson’s ruling that the second affidavit fulfilled the substantive requirements, it nonetheless did not satisfy the timing requirement. *Id.* Therefore, Judge Hall dismissed Respondent’s case for failure to provide an affidavit as required by section 38-77-170(2) prior to initiating this lawsuit. (App. 15-17; 55-90). Respondent’s Motion for Reconsideration was denied on July 17, 2018. (App. 18-20).

Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal on August 16, 2018. (App. 51). On appeal, Respondent first argued Judge Hall erred in ruling the John Doe affidavit is a condition precedent to filing a lawsuit pursuant to section 38-77-170. (App. 124-28). Second, Respondent argued Judge Hall erred in hearing Doe’s Motion to Dismiss pre-trial for lack of proper notice (App. 128-29) and because the motion had been ruled on by Judge Henderson’s April 13, 2018 order denying summary judgment. (App. 129-31).

In an unpublished *per curiam* opinion filed June 23, 2021, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court’s dismissal and remanded the case for trial, holding Judge Hall’s order dismissing the lawsuit improperly overruled Judge Henderson’s prior order denying summary judgment. (App. 152-56). It found Judge Henderson’s order constituted a “general ruling” as to the timing requirement, despite the fact that the order itself did not address the issue. (App. 155).

The Court of Appeals did not examine whether the subject action, or any John Doe action, may be instituted in the absence of an affidavit compliant with section 38-77-170 at or before the time of filing a lawsuit. The court declined to address Respondent’s remaining issues concerning the withdrawal of a motion and equitable tolling. Doe filed a Petition for Rehearing on July 8,

2021, requesting reconsideration. (App. 157). The Court of Appeals denied rehearing by order filed July 20, 2021. (App. 165).

Doe subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Supreme Court. Doe sought review of the Court of Appeals' opinion reversing Judge Hall's Order dismissing Respondent's case at trial. Additionally, Doe requested a determination by this Court of issues left unanswered by the Court of Appeals regarding Respondent's failure to timely provide an affidavit prior to initiating the lawsuit, as well as the sufficiency of the affidavits that were delinquent filed. (App. 166). Respondent submitted a Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari (App. 181), after which this Court filed an Order granting the petition for a writ of certiorari on Petitioner's Questions I and II. (App. 199).

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As a general rule in reviewing a trial court's order on pre-trial motions, appellate courts are bound by the lower court's factual findings made during preliminary options where there is conflicting evidence or where the findings are supported by the evidence and are not clearly erroneous or controlled by an error of law. *City of Chester v. Addison*, 277 S.C. 179, 284 S.E.2d 579 (1981).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge correctly applied the language of the John Doe statute, properly considered the precedent of this Court, and determined the John Doe affidavit is a condition precedent to Respondent's right to sue Petition John Doe.

I. **THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FINDING THE TRIAL JUDGE’S DISMISSAL IMPROPERLY OVERRULED A PRIOR TRIAL COURT ORDER DENYING SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

The Court of Appeals committed reversible error in determining that Judge Hall improperly overruled Judge Henderson’s order when he found Respondent failed to comply with the contemporaneous filing requirement of section 38-77-170. Judge Henderson had not ruled upon the sufficiency of Rice’s affidavits with regard to the contemporaneous filing requirement. The Court of Appeals additionally erred in holding Judge Hall lacked authority to hear Doe’s Motion to Dismiss.

A. Judge Henderson did not rule on whether Respondent satisfied the contemporaneous filing requirement of section 38-77-170.

The Court of Appeals relied exclusively on the following single phrase to determine Judge Henderson “ruled” on the contemporaneous filing requirement: “After reviewing the written submissions and hearing oral argument” (App. 155). However, “factual statements of counsel, whether made during oral argument or in written briefs or memoranda ordinarily may not be considered” in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists. *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 58, 348 S.E.2d 180, 183 (Ct. App. 1986) (internal citation omitted). There is no evidence in the Record that Judge Henderson reviewed any materials by which he could have considered the contemporaneous filing requirement issue.

Judge Henderson’s order was not intended to address the contemporaneous filing requirement. To the contrary, the Record provides ample evidence from which to conclude Judge Henderson’s order was not ruling on the contemporaneous filing requirement. There is no reference made that an affidavit had not been produced prior to November 18, 2016. There is no reference to *Collins v. Doe* or *Wynn v. Doe* – the only two cases cited in Doe’s memorandum. There exists no transcript to determine whether the issue was examined at the hearing. Even in

quoting the John Doe statute, Judge Henderson’s order omits the preamble’s key language, “there is no right of action or recovery under the uninsured motorist provision, unless. . . .”

As both the Court of Appeals and Respondent have acknowledged, the order was devoid of any finding relevant to the affidavits’ timing. When Judge Hall asked whether Respondent agreed that Judge Henderson’s order did not address the contemporaneous filing requirement, he was unable to identify any such finding. (App. 72, l. 20 – 73, l. 14). Judge Henderson’s order reads, “Defense counsel’s oral argument in support their (sic) Motion alleged *two deficiencies* . . . that Mr. Rice’s affidavit of November 18, 2016 did not contain the required statutory language . . . [and] Rice’s affidavit contradicts his deposition testimony.” (App. 110-11) (emphasis added). Such a summary suggests Judge Henderson declined to hear the third deficiency, or was not asked to contemplate the issue. Alternatively, it suggests that the trial judge or trial counsel chose to withdraw the issue as a basis for summary judgment.

The Court of Appeals correctly stated that the contemporaneous filing requirement involves the interpretation of a statute and is a question of law. (App. 155). Respondent’s ability to present his case to a jury relied upon a ruling by the lower court with regard to whether the affidavits were a condition precedent to instituting this action – a purely legal question. A review of Judge Henderson’s order reveals plainly that no such legal determination was made. Indeed, the order made a specific finding that summary judgment was improper because “a genuine question of material fact exists that must be determined by a jury.” (App. 8). There is no dispute Respondent failed to produce an affidavit before filing suit or before Doe filed her answer and motion to dismiss. (App. 70, l.22 – 71, l.1). Had Judge Henderson’s order ruled on the contemporaneous filing requirement, the existence of the material facts referenced in his order would be irrelevant.

The Court of Appeals cited *Spence v. Wingate* for the proposition that Judge Henderson's Order was a "general ruling" that included a determination on Doe's theory that the affidavits were untimely. *Spence v. Wingate*, 381 S.C. 487, 674 S.E.2d 169 (2009). *Spence* is inapposite to the issue facing the court. In *Spence*, the trial judge's ruling focused on a single *legal* issue – whether a duty existed. The Supreme Court found that the losing party's alternative theory that she was owed a duty *as a prior client* involved the precise issue raised by respondent's motion for summary judgment. The theory was encompassed within the ruling. *Id.* In this case, Judge Henderson's ruling that Rice's second affidavit included sufficient content to create a jury question is wholly distinct from the issue of whether Rice was required to submit an affidavit at the time the Complaint was filed. As a result, the Court of Appeals erred in finding a "general ruling" finally determined the contemporaneous filing requirement.

B. Judge Hall possessed the authority to hear and decide Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss.

The Court of Appeals erred in ruling Judge Hall did not have the authority to dismiss the action. Assuming, *arguendo*, Judge Henderson's Order denied summary judgment as to the contemporaneous affidavit issue, such a denial did not preclude Doe from raising her motion to dismiss or divest Judge Hall of the authority to consider the same at trial. A denial of a motion for summary judgment is not the law of the case. As stated by this Court in *Ballenger v. Bowen*, "the denial of summary judgment does not finally determine anything about the merits of the case and does not have the effect of striking any defense since that defense may be raised again later in the proceedings." *Ballenger v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 476, 477, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994); *see also McLendon v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 313 S.C. 525, 526 n.2, 443 S.E.2d 539, 540 (1994) ("Like the denial of a motion for summary judgment, the denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the law of the case and the issue raised by the motion can be raised again at a later

stage of the proceedings.”). Regardless of the language Judge Henderson utilized in his Order, John Doe was not foreclosed from seeking a ruling on the Motion to Dismiss at trial.

Additionally, the motion was properly raised and heard at the trial pursuant to Rule 12(h)(2), SCRCPP, which permits a party to raise a defense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted or otherwise state a legal defense to a claim at trial. *See Inman v. Kenn Hyatt Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 294 S.C. 240, 363 S.E.2d 691 (1988) (holding trial judge erred in denying as untimely defendant’s motion to dismiss raised at trial as permitted by Rule 12(h)(2), SCRCPP).

The Supreme Court has also found that issues left unresolved by one judge are properly considered by another. *See, e.g., Brandt v. Gooding*, 368 S.C. 618, 626, 630 S.E.2d 259, 263 (2006) (finding the trial court had authority to determine an issue present to and left unresolved by a prior judge.). In this case, Judge Hall deferred to Judge Henderson’s clear rulings related to the affidavit’s compliance with 38-77-170(2) and the conflicting deposition testimony. Whether the affidavit complied with the contemporaneous filing requirement was left unaddressed, allowing Judge Hall to consider the same.

The Court of Appeals opinion appears to conflict with this Court’s opinion in *Graham v. Town of Loris*, 272 S.C. 442, 248 S.E.2d 594 (1978). Respondent initially referred to the case for the proposition that Judge Hall could not hear or decide whether Respondent failed to fulfill the affidavit requirement before filing this cause of action because Judge Henderson considered John Doe’s Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment and made a blanket denial of the motion. However, the *Graham* court affirmed the ability of one judge to overrule the findings of another in a narrow context. The court’s reasoning was that the second judge was ruling on a different issue than the first judge – namely, the factors set forth by statute that would support vacating the prior order for summary judgment. *Id.*

II. THE TRIAL JUDGE CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO SATISFY THE AFFIDAVIT REQUIREMENT OF S.C. CODE § 38-77-170(2) AS A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO FILING HIS LAWSUIT AGAINST JOHN DOE

To recover uninsured motorist benefits where there is no contact between vehicles, one must first comply with every condition set forth in S.C. Code § 38-77-170 – notably entitled “*Conditions to sue or recover* under uninsured motorist provision when owner or operator of motor vehicle causing injury or damage is unknown.” (emphasis added). The statute reads as follows:

If the owner or operator of any motor vehicle which causes bodily injury or property damage to the insured is unknown, *there is no right of action or recovery* under the uninsured motorist provision, unless:

(1) the insured or someone in his behalf has reported the accident to some appropriate police authority within a reasonable time, under all the circumstances, after its occurrence;

(2) the injury or damage was caused by physical contact with the unknown vehicle, or the accident must have been witnessed by someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle; provided however, the witness must sign an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident contained in the affidavit;

(3) the insured was not negligent in failing to determine the identity of the other vehicle and the driver of the other vehicle at the time of the accident.

The following statement must be prominently displayed on the face of the affidavit provided in item (2) above: A FALSE STATEMENT CONCERNING THE FACTS CONTAINED IN THIS AFFIDAVIT MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL PENALTIES AS PROVIDED BY LAW.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-170 (2015) (emphasis added).

Courts have repeatedly interpreted the law to require strict compliance with the statute’s terms as a condition precedent for creating a right of action for a plaintiff seeking uninsured motorist benefits. *See, e.g., Wynn v. Doe*, 255 S.C. 509, 180 S.E.2d 95 (1971) (holding that a

previous version of the statute required proof of physical contact as a condition precedent to a right to recover uninsured motorist benefits); *Morehead v. Doe*, 324 S.C. 559, 479 S.E.2d 817 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding timely reporting of an accident to law enforcement was a condition precedent to recover uninsured motorist benefits).

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