**RECEIVED**

**Oct 12 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Presiding Judge, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Case No. 2016- CP- 20- 011

Appellate Case No. 2021-000894

Opinion No. 2021-UP-229 (S.C. Ct. App., filed June 23, 2021)

Peter Rice

Respondent,

v.

John Doe

Petitioner.

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

EADON LAW, LLC

S. Hampton Eadon, III (#76158)  
P.O. Box 11954  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 760-7444

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals correctly determined, in a unanimous *per curiam* decision, that in granting Doe’s Motion to Dismiss, Judge Hall improperly overruled Judge Henderson’s previous order concerning a purely legal issue.

**I. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY DETERMINED THE TRIAL JUDGE’S ORDER FOR DISMISSAL IMPROPERLY OVERRULED A PRIOR TRIAL COURT ORDER DENYING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE SAME, PURELY LEGAL ISSUE.**

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Judge Hall overruled Judge Henderson’s Order on whether Respondent complied with S.C. Code §38-77-170.

**A. Judge Henderson denied Petitioner’s Motion for Summary Judgment based on S.C. Code §38-77-170 after oral argument and review of written submissions.**

The Order by Judge Roger E. Henderson denying Petitioner’s Motion for Summary Judgment specifically states, “After reviewing the written submissions and hearing oral argument, this Court denies Defendant Doe’s Motion.” (App. p. 4) (emphasis added). During the subsequent hearing on Doe’s Motion to Dismiss on the morning of the scheduled trial, discussion ensued as to whether Judge Henderson’s Order Denying Summary Judgment considered Petitioner Doe’s condition precedent argument:

THE COURT: All right, and – I mean would you agree that -- and I’ll be glad to hear you on this—that the summary judgment order did not contain any language that dealt with the issue of it being a condition precedent?

MR. EADON: I would have to go back through it, because quite frankly, I haven’t reviewed it since ---

THE COURT: Okay, alright. Well, take a look at it, because I’m going to take a – I’m going to do a little bit of research before I rule.

MR. EADON: Okay. I know—I know for a fact that that argument was advanced at the hearing, I do recall that.

MS. O’BRIEN: No, it wasn’t, and there’s nowhere in the order—

THE COURT: Well, I mean—we’re—

MS. O’BRIEN: --- that it deals with that.

THE COURT: That’s all right. That’s all right. We’re bound by the Order.

MS. O’BRIEN: Right. The order does not address that at all.

(App. pp. 72 l. 20 – 73 l. 16).

Petitioner’s trial counsel argued that there was no evidence in the Record that Judge Henderson either reviewed, heard arguments, or was provided any materials by which he considered

the contemporaneous filing requirement/condition precedent issue in ordering the denial of Doe's Motion for Summary Judgment. Though a transcript of this hearing is not included in the record on appeal, this contention is plainly disproven by the documents in the record itself. The only written submission Judge Henderson reviewed in deciding Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment was Doe's Memorandum in Support. (App. pp. 101-107) The first argument advanced by Petitioner in its memorandum in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, in Section 1.A., is entitled "No Affidavit Prior to Filing Suit". (App. p. 103). Petitioner, in this written submission cited *Collins v. Doe*, 352 S.C. 462 (2002), claiming that Respondent's section 38-77-170(2) affidavit did not comply with the alleged condition precedent requirement and therefore should be dismissed. (App. pp. 103-104). A review of the Record makes it clear that Petitioner's legal argument regarding Respondent's affidavit timeliness was reviewed, considered and ruled upon in Judge Henderson's Order.

Citing *Spence v. Wingate*, 381 S.C. 487, 489, 674 S.E. 2d 169, 170 (2009), the Court of Appeals correctly determined, unanimously, that Judge Henderson's Order made a ruling on the purely legal issue of the timeliness of the affidavit. In determining that Respondent's affidavit complied with S.C. Code §38-77-170, Judge Hall improperly overruled Judge Henderson's ruling. As this Court stated in *Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602, 604, 340 S.E.2d 546, 547 (1986), "One Circuit Court Judge does not have the authority to set aside the order of another". Petitioner did not request Judge Henderson to reconsider the Order nor was he asked to elaborate further on the ruling.

**B. The trial judge erred in hearing and ultimately granting Doe's Motion to Dismiss.**

Rule 12(b)(6) SCRPC states, "If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, matters outside the

pleading are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment, and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all materials made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.” The arguments made during Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss on June 20, 2018 considered matters outside of the pleadings, namely the affidavit(s) submitted by Rice, which provided the central argument of Doe’s motion. (App. pp. 53-91). South Carolina courts have consistently held that a Motion to Dismiss under SCRCP Rule 12 converts into a Motion for Summary Judgment under SCRCP 56 when matters outside of the four corners of the pleadings are considered. This Court stated, “In considering a motion for dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), if "matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56.”” Rule 12(b), SCRCP. *Allen Patterson, Steve Tilton, Richard Sandler, Lincoln Privette, Marc Ellis, Joey Carter, Barry Davis, Michael Nieri, Allen Patterson Residential LLC v. Witter*, 425 S.C. 213, 226, 821 S.E.2d 677 (S.C. 2018).

During the June 20, 2018, hearing on Doe’s Motion to Dismiss, counsel for Respondent raised the issue that the argument being advanced by Doe had already been heard and decided at the summary judgment stage by Judge Henderson. (App. p. 57, l. 22 - p. 58, l. 3; p. 66, l. 23-p. 67, l. 21).

Once the purely legal issue concerning the timeliness of Rice’s section 38-77-170(2) affidavit had been decided by Judge Henderson at the first summary judgment hearing, it was improper to have it reheard by Judge Hall pursuant to *Graham v. Town of Loris*, 272 S.C. 442 248 S.E.2d 594 (S.C. 1978). Judge Hall was asked to decide whether Respondent’s affidavit met the requirements of S.C. Code §38-77-170(2). Petitioner’s motion to dismiss required the trial judge to consider matters other than those based solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of a

complaint, namely Respondent Rice's affidavit and thus converted the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment. In *Shealy v. Doe*, 634 S.E.2d. 45, 370 S.C. 194 (S.C. App. 2006), the Court of Appeals reviewed the trial court's grant of Doe's motion to dismiss. In an analogous situation to the one at bar, the Court of Appeals decided, "In this case, the trial court considered Cromer's affidavit and the letter from Safeco before granting Doe's motion to dismiss. Accordingly, we review the trial court's order as if it were an appeal from a grant of summary judgment." *Shealy* at 47. The condition precedent argument was raised, considered and ruled upon by Judge Henderson in denying Doe's Motion for Summary Judgment over 3 months prior. (App. pp. 103-104). The condition precedent argument was ruled upon as correctly determined by the Court of Appeals, and thus was not subject to being changed, altered or reversed by another Circuit Court Judge.

In discussing the interplay of different circuit court judges being asked to adjudicate the same issue without new facts or evidence being presented, the Graham court cited *Steele v. C., C. & A. Railroad Co.*, 14 S.C. 324 (1880):

The Court of Common Pleas is a unity, although its jurisdiction is administered by a number of judges who are, in some sense, the exponents of the court. When one of these judges makes a decision upon the merits of a matter within his jurisdiction, that is not merely the personal opinion of the judge, but a judgment of the Court of Common Pleas, which exhausts the power of the court upon that subject and must stand until reversed or set aside in the manner prescribed by law. There is no appeal from one Circuit Judge to another. All are of equal dignity and have the same right to pronounce the judgments of the court. One Circuit Judge upon the same state of facts, has no power to change, alter or reverse a decision of a brother judge of the same Circuit.

### **C. Timeliness of Petitioner Doe's Motion to Dismiss**

Respondent contends that based upon South Carolina law, Petitioner Doe's Motion to Dismiss was not ripe for the trial court's consideration on the eve of trial, due to the motion being withdrawn over one and a half years prior.

Doe raised a general Motion to Dismiss in its Answer filed on November 21, 2016, alleging that Rice failed to comply with S.C. Code §38-77-170. (App. p. 29). The hearing on this motion was scheduled for January 5, 2017. (R. p. 97). The day before the scheduled motion hearing, counsel for Doe sent counsel for all parties an email indicating that the motion to dismiss was being removed. (App. p. 98). The morning of January 5, 2017, a paralegal from the office of Doe's trial counsel sent an email to the clerk of court indicating that the motion was removed from the motion roster. (App. p. 99). The clerk's office marked the official hearing roster that the motion, listed as #9 on the motion roster, was "resolved". (R. p. 97).

On June 20, 2018, during the SCRCP 16(a) Pre-Trial Conference, Doe requested that the Motion to Dismiss be heard. (App. p. 57, lines 16-18). Respondent's counsel argued against this motion being heard claiming that it was not properly before the Court due to it being withdrawn and never having been re-filed or noticed. (App. p. 45). South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 7(b)(1) provides that "an application to the court for an order shall be by motion which, unless made during a hearing or trial in open court with a court reporter present, shall be made in writing, shall state with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order sought. The requirement of writing is fulfilled if the motion is stated in a written notice of the hearing of the motion." Respondent contends that the Motion to Dismiss was never re-filed or re-noticed after being removed on January 4, 2017, approximately 1 ½ years prior to the hearing.

The Court of Appeals encountered a similar situation in *Summer Place of Myrtle Beach Homeowner's Ass'n, Inc. v. Knight et al.*, 379 S.E.2d 724, 298 S.C. 241 (S.C. App., 1989). In that case, the trial court granted summary judgment during a SCRCP 16(a) Pre-Trial Conference. In reversing the trial court, the Court of Appeals held, "because there were no motions for summary judgment pending at the time of the pre-trial hearing, there was no motion before the court to grant."

*Id.* at 729. South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 16(a)(7) allows for the disposition of pending motions during the Pre-Trial Conference. However, since Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss was not filed or noticed after being removed and marked “resolved” on January 5, 2017, it was not pending before the trial court on June 20, 2018 and was not ripe for adjudication.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT FAILED TO SATISFY S.C. CODE §38-77-170(2)**

**A. S.C. Code §38-77-170(2) contains no filing requirement**

South Carolina authority for “John Doe” actions to sue or recover uninsured motorist benefits is contained within S.C. Code of Laws. §38-77-170.

§38-77-170. Conditions to sue or recover under uninsured motorist provision when owner or operator of motor vehicle causing injury or damage is unknown.

If the owner or operator of any motor vehicle which causes bodily injury or property damage to the insured is unknown, there is no right of action or recovery under the uninsured motorist provision, unless:

(1) the insured or someone in his behalf has reported the accident to some appropriate police authority within a reasonable time, under all the circumstances, after its occurrence;

(2) the injury or damage was caused by physical contact with the unknown vehicle, or the accident must have been witnessed by someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle; provided however, the witness must sign an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident contained in the affidavit;

(3) the insured was not negligent in failing to determine the identity of the other vehicle and the driver of the other vehicle at the time of the accident.

The following statement must be prominently displayed on the face of the affidavit provided in subitem (2) above: A FALSE STATEMENT CONCERNING THE FACTS CONTAINED IN THIS AFFIDAVIT MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL PENALTIES AS PROVIDED BY LAW.

Assuming *arguendo* that this Court finds that Doe's Motion to Dismiss was properly before the trial court, had not been withdrawn, did not convert into a summary judgment motion, did not conflict with Judge Henderson's Order and was correctly decided by Judge Hall, then Respondent asserts that a plain reading of S.C. Code § 38-77-170(2) supports reversal of Judge Hall's Order since the statute does not impose a filing requirement.

S.C. Code §38-77-170, does not contain a requirement that the affidavit *be filed* with the Court. (emphasis added). The trial court ultimately granted Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss on the ground that the filing of an affidavit was a condition precedent for filing suit under S.C. Code §38-77-170(2). (App. p. 89, l. 19 - p. 91, l. 25). In so holding, the trial court stated, "I find that the—that the motion to dismiss is granted because of the failure to file an affidavit until after an answer was filed in this case, and so that's the basis for the Court's ruling." (App. p. 89, ll 10-14). Simply put, S.C. Code §38-77-170 contains no requirement that the Affidavit must be filed, nor that it must be filed prior to John Doe filing its Answer. The statute requires the witness to sign an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident contained in the affidavit under subsection 2.

In *Collins v. Doe*, 352 S.C. 462 (2002), our Supreme Court decided, in a majority opinion, that "the sworn affidavit requirement fulfills a notice function; providing, *upon request*, the defendant-insurer with information relating to the validity of Plaintiff's case." (*Collins* at 470, emphasis added). The Court's language identifying the defendant-insurer is important. A defendant-insurer requesting the affidavit can only take place after a lawsuit has been initiated as there would be no Defendant until after the Complaint is filed. The exact factual scenario discussed in the *Collins* case to fulfill the notice function took place in the instant matter. Upon request via email on November 7, 2016, counsel for Doe requested the affidavit be provided. Counsel for Doe was provided with Rice's Affidavit on November 18, 2016 via email. The

defendant-insurer was put on notice of the validity of Plaintiff's case the same day the affidavit was signed. Rice's affidavit, signed on November 18, 2016 was filed with the clerk's office on November 22, 2016.

The *Collins* case is factually distinguishable from the instant case. In *Collins*, there were no affidavits filed by any witness at any point during the litigation and the question before the court was whether witness testimony could act as a functional equivalent of the statutorily required affidavit. This Court determined, in a majority opinion, that witness testimony could not serve as the functional equivalent of the affidavit requirement of S.C. Code §38-77-170(2) and strictly interpreted the statute to require the affidavit in order to bring a case to court.

Two years after the Supreme Court decided *Collins*, it heard *Gilliland v. Doe*, 357 S.C. 197, 592 S.E.2d 626 (S.C., 2004), another no-contact John Doe case which dealt with challenges to the requirements of S.C. Code §38-77-170(2). This Court in *Gilliland* allowed recovery to Ms. Gilliland. The reasoning allowing recovery for the Plaintiff was based upon a seeming disagreement between *Wausau Ins. Co. v. Howser*, 309 S.C. 269, 422 S.E.2d 106 (1992) and *Collins v. Doe*, 352 S.C. 462, 574 S.E.2d 739 (2002). *Howser* seemed to liberally interpret §38-77-170(2) while *Collins* more strictly interpreted the statute regarding the requirement of a witness affidavit versus court testimony from a witness.

In reversing the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court stated:

In *Collins*, this Court strictly interpreted § 38-77-170(2). This Court held that while the purpose of the affidavit requirement of § 38-77-170(2) could have been met by witness testimony, the statute specifically required that the plaintiff provide an affidavit of an independent witness.

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